C

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TIMOTHY B. WILLIAMSON

VS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

CASE NO. 2007-KA-01719-COA

APPELLEE

FILED

FEB 2 1 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Jerry Campbell Attorney at Law 1117 Openwood Street Vicksburg, MS 39183 601-638-6812 MSB

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TIMOTHY B. WILLIAMSON

APPELLANT

CASE NO. 2007-KA-01719-COA

VS

.

۰.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

5 **1** 4 1

- 1. THE DEFENDANT WAS UNFAIRLY SURPRISED AND UNDULY PREJUDICED BY THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE NAME OF A WITNESS, JAMES BOYD MCGRAW, WHO WAS OFFERED BY THE PROSECUTION AT TRIAL.
- 2. BY THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE NAME OF A WITNESS, JAMES BOYD MCGRAW, THE DEFENDANT WAS SUBSTANTIALLY PREJUDICED IN HIS PLEA BARGAIN NEGOTIATIONS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

۰.

,

Timothy B. Williamson comes before the Court to appeal his conviction of aggravated assault rendered in the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi on June 29, 2007. As a result of this conviction he was sentenced to a term of twenty years and after serving <u>twelve</u> years he was to be released from custody with five years post release supervision. (CP 63-64; RE 11)

Timothy B. Williamson was indicted for the aforementioned crime of aggravated assault on June 20, 2003. (CP 5-6; RE18)

On March 17, 2004, the Public Defender team was assigned to represent Timothy B. Williamson (CP-12)

On June 3, 2004, a Motion for Discovery was filed by Walter E. Wood, Esq., on behalf of Timothy B. Williamson. (CP16-17; RE 20)

On June 3, 2004, a discovery response was made by the State. (CP-15; RE 23) This discovery response did not include the name of James Boyd McGraw whose testimony was offered by the State. (T 182 -183) James Boyd McGraw at the time of the alleged aggravated assault was a highway patrolman who witnessed the alleged assault. (T-183,207) Neither his testimony nor his name was offered until one day after the trial started. (T-167)

On September 30, 2004 the State offered to Timothy Williamson to make the following recommendation to a guilty plea: five years in custody with release after <u>two</u> years. This offer was withdrawn after October 4, 2004. (State's Exhibit 7; RE 24-25)

This trail of this cause commenced on June 28, 2007. (T-1)

During the afternoon of June 28, 2007, the State offered the testimony of James Boyd McGraw without ever stating he would be a witness in response to discovery. The State further admitted, by the eliciting of this testimony, that Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9.04 has been violated. (T-183)

۰.

.

The Trial Court rejected a motion for continuance by the defendant. (T-182) The defendant was found guilty of aggravated assault on June 29, 2007.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

٠.

.

Timothy Brian Williamson at the time of alleged crime was 33 years of age and a resident of Moselle, Mississippi. (T326)

On April 12, 2003, he was fishing at the Ross Barnett Reservoir with some of his friends. Around 5:00 p.m. he and his friends went to eat at the Dock, a restaurant in Madison County, Mississippi. (T341)

When he left the Dock he thought someone was stealing tools from the back of his truck. (T344) He immediately ran to his truck and confronted the alleged victim, being Brain Canton, about his (Timothy Williamson's) suspicion. (T350) Timothy B. Williamson testified he hit Canton one time. (T354)

Brain Canton testified he was hit by Timothy B. Williamson at least once and possibly two or three more times. (T75)

Dr. Adair Blackledge testified the injury to Brian Canton's nose was serious. (T96-97)

Assistant District Attorney Tom Kesler announced to the Court on June 18, 2007, after the trial had commenced, that he had just been informed that an off-duty highway patrolman had witnesses the whole incident. He further stated that the testimony to be offered by the off-duty highway patrolman is "quite damaging to the defendant" (emphasis added). (T147)

James Boyd McGraw, the off-duty highway patrolman, testified he never saw the victim Brain Canton do any aggressive action towards Timothy B. Williamson. He further testified that he saw Timothy B. Williamson strike Brain Canton in the face

repeatedly. (T208) This writer emphasizes the testimony of James Boyd McGraw was never divulged before trial nor during any plea bargain negotiations.

•

.

David Wellborn testified he could not see the altercation between Canton and Williamson but stated "you could hear gravel being kicked around and everything else." (T249)

Lindsay Wellborn testified she did not see the altercation but immediately after saw Williamson try to help Canton to his feet. (T260)

William Mack Kitchens testified that Williamson only hit Canton once. (T308)

The only witness who testified Williamson hit Canton more than once other than Canton was James Boyd McGraw.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

•

.

Timothy Williamson was convicted of aggravated assault basically on the testimony of James Boyd McGraw. The only witnesses to the number of blows delivered by Timothy Williamson were McGraw, the victim Brain Canton, William Mack Kitchens, and Timothy Williamson. Brain Canton testified that he thought he was hit probably two or three times. Timothy Williamson testified he hit Brian Canton one time. William Mack Kitchens testified that Timothy Williamson hit Brain Canton one time. The only witness not involved in the altercation who testified that Timothy Williamson hit Brian Canton more than one time was James Boyd McGraw.

McGraw's name was never offered by the prosecution before trial as a witness nor was any statement provided before trial. His statement was critical to the conviction of Timothy B. Williamson.

The Assistant District Attorney said that a discovery violation had occurred. He further said that the testimony to be offered by the witness James Boyd McGraw was very damaging to the defendant.

Plea bargain offers were made by the State to Timothy B. Williamson. He and his attorney's consideration of said offers were without the benefit of knowing that James Boyd McGraw's testimony would be offered at trial. Further all plea bargain offers were withdrawn before trial. No plea bargain offers were made where Timothy B. Williamson had knowledge of the damaging testimony of James Boyd McGraw.

This case should be remanded to offer Timothy B. Williamson the opportunity to consider any plea bargain offer with full knowledge of the testimony against him and to give his attorney an opportunity to investigate the statement of James Boyd McGraw and

the credibility of James Boyd McGraw. Further, if a trial is required, Timothy B. Williamson should be able to prepare for it with full knowledge of all witnesses to be presented.

•

.

AGRUMENT

1. THE DEFENDANT WAS UNFAIRLY SURPRISED AND UNDULY PREJUDICED BY THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE NAME OF A WITNESS, JAMES BOYD MCGRAW, WHO WAS OFFERED BY THE PROSECUTION AT TRIAL.

Timothy B. Williamson was indicted for aggravated assault for an altercation with

Brian Canton. (CP5; RE 18) A discovery response was made by the State on June 3,

2004. (CP15; RE 23) This discovery response did not name James Boyd McGraw as a

witness. (T147, 183) After the trial commenced the State offered James Boyd McGraw as

a witness. The defendant objected and the trial Court made McGraw available for

interview purposes. (T148) After interviewing McGraw, his defense attorneys moved for

a continuance which was denied. (T182) The defense pursuant to Uniform Circuit and

County Court Rule 9.04 I 2 claimed unfair surprise or undue prejudice.

There is no question the defendant suffered unfair surprise because the Assistant

District Attorney said he was surprised:

"But I had no knowledge of this until about 20 minutes ago ...I have never seen it myself, as I stated. I didn't have any idea it existed." (T147)

No question exists the defendant suffered undue prejudice. The Assistant District Attorney stated:

"... and your Honor, needless to say, it, (referring to the testimony of James Boyd McGraw) is quite damaging to the defendant. (T147)

An offer was made for a plea bargain to Timothy Williamson on September 30, 2004. (State's Exhibit 7) This offer was considered by the defendant with a grievous discovery violation existing, i.e., the failure to disclose the name of James Boyd McGraw and his testimony. At the time of trial no plea offer existed. (T 471)

URCCC 9.04 A. reads as follows:

Subject to the exceptions of subsection "B", below, the prosecution must disclose to each defendant or to defendant's attorney, and permit the defendant or defendant's attorney to inspect, copy, test, and photograph upon written request and without the necessity of court order the following which is in the possession, custody, or control of the State, the existence of which is known or by the exercise of due diligence may become known to the persecution:

1. Names and addresses of all witnesses in chief proposed to be offered by the prosecution at trial, together with a copy of the contents of any statement, written, recorded or otherwise preserved of each such witness and the substance of any oral statement made by any such witness;

URCCC 9.04 I governs the procedure where a discovery violation exists.

Once the defendant became aware of James Boyd McGraw and expected his

testimony and after interviewing James Boyd McGraw, the defendant moved for a

continuance. This was denied. (T182)

In Box v. State, 437 So. 2d 19, 25 (Miss. 1983) it is stated:

"Finally, the general guidelines suggested above would realistically and effectively tell the state its obligation to conform to discovery orders must be taken seriously. The state ought not be heard to say "we only discovered this evidence last night", or "the defendant should have known about this witness all along anyway" or, " this evidence is merely cumulative or corroborative", or the like."

This directly addresses the Trial Judge attempts to fault the defense attorneys for

not knowing of the highway patrolman's testimony. (T171)

The only witness besides the victim who testified that Timothy B. Williamson hit

Brian Canton more than once is James Boyd McGraw. To not divulge his name and his

testimony is a grievous discovery violation that can only be corrected by a continuance.

2. BY THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE NAME OF A WITNESS, JAMES BOYD MCGRAW, THE DEFENDANT WAS SUBSTANTIALLY PREJUDICED IN HIS PLEA BARGAIN NEGATIATIONS.

The defendant was basically offered a two year sentence well before trial. At the time

of his rejection of this plea, he was completely unaware of the testimony of James Boyd

McGraw. When the trial commenced the offer had been withdrawn. (T471)

The ramifications of this discovery violation is discussed in Morris v. State, 436 So.

2d 1381, 1386 (Miss. 1983) where it is stated:

.

"The point to be emphasized is that the Defendant is entitled to enter plea negotiations with all the cards on the table. He is entitled to the opportunity to evaluate his chances at trial with full knowledge of the contents of a statement such as that which we are here concerned. Rule 4.06 gives him this opportunity. The State had the statement. It is substantially incriminating. It should have been produced, but was not. One does not have to have tried many criminal cases to know that such was substantially prejudicial to the Defendant on the question of whether or not he would plea bargain."

Morris directly voices the thoughts of the Mississippi Supreme Court to stop and

prevent what happened to Timothy B. Williamson. Lawyers cannot prepare for cases and

truly represent their clients without full knowledge of all expected testimony.

CONCLUSION

The defendant is clearly entitled to a new trial with complete and accurate

•

discovery provided before this trial.

. .

¥