IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF COPY

TIMOTHY B. WILLIAMSON

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

MAR 3 1 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-1719-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOLLOWED THE PROCEDURE OUTLINED IN UCCCR 9.04(I).
- II. WILLIAMSON WAS NOT PREJUDICED DURING PLEA NEGOTIATIONS.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 12, 2003, Brian Canton drove to The Dock in Ridgeland where he was scheduled to work an 8 p.m. shift. T. 71. After pulling in to the parking lot, Canton walked around to the passenger side of his truck to retrieve a backpack and cell phone. T. 73. At that time heard Timothy Williamson yell at him because Williamson thought Canton was meddling with his truck T. 73,350. Williamson then punched Canton in the face at least once, and Canton fell to the ground. T. 75, 207, 308, 351. While Canton was on the ground in a defensive position, Williamson continued pummeling him. T. 75, 207. As patrons, including an off duty highway patrol officer, from a nearby restaurant began to approach the scene, Williamson fled. T. 209, 281.

As a result of the beating, Canton underwent three surgeries to repair his broken nose, which

had shifted and caved in. T. 85-86, 96. The collapse of his nose restricted him from breathing out of one nostril at all, while the other nostril had only 15% airway. T. 94. He also suffered fractures in his cheekbone. T. 94. Canton's surgeon testified that his injuries were serious and that but for the surgeries he would have been permanently disfigured. T. 97.

Williamson was ultimately convicted by a Madison County Circuit Court jury of aggravated assault and sentenced to twenty years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with twelve years to serve.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On appeal, Williamson argues that his sentence and conviction should be reversed because the State failed to comply with UCCCR 9.04. However, the State admitted this much at trial. The real question is whether the trial court properly adhered to UCCCR 9.04(I), which outlines the procedure the trial court must follow when a discovery violation has occurred and the violating party wishes to have the nondisclosed evidence admitted at trial. In the instance case, the trial court did follow the proper procedure before admitting the testimony in question. As the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the testimony, Williamson's conviction and sentence must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOLLOWED THE PROCEDURE OUTLINED IN UCCCR 9.04(I).

The State discovered on the day of trial that Captain James McGraw had witnessed the beating. T. 146. As McGraw's name had not been furnished during discovery, defense counsel moved for a continuance. T. 149. The trial court then recessed for the day so that McGraw could be made available to defense counsel for interview. T. 149-51. The next day, after hearing argument from both sides, the trial court ruled that McGraw's testimony was admissible.

In his first assignment of error, Williamson does nothing more than argue that the State committed a discovery violation by not divulging McGraw's name and proposed testimony prior to trial. This fact, however, is not in dispute as the State admitted such at trial. T. 183. Accordingly, the real issue on appeal is whether the trial court properly complied with UCCCR 9.04(I). The State submits that the trial court adhered to UCCCR 9.04(I) and properly admitted McGraw's testimony. Uniform County and Circuit Court Rule 9.04(I) states in pertinent part,

If during the course of trial, the prosecution attempts to introduce evidence which has not been timely disclosed to the defense as required by these rules, and the defense objects to the introduction for that reason, the court shall act as follows:

- 1. Grant the defense a reasonable opportunity to interview the newly discovered witness, to examine the newly produced documents, photographs or other evidence; and
- 2. If, after such opportunity, the defense claims unfair surprise or undue prejudice and seeks a continuance or mistrial, the court shall, in the interest of justice and absent unusual circumstances, exclude the evidence or **grant a continuance for a period of time reasonably necessary** for the defense to meet the non-disclosed evidence or grant a mistrial.
- 3. The court shall not be required to grant either a continuance or mistrial for such a discovery violation if the prosecution withdraws its efforts to introduce such evidence.

UCCCR 9.04(I) (emphasis added).

The supreme court has held that in some instances where a defendant is entitled to a continuance due to a discovery violation, "postponement of a day or two, or in some cases even an hour or two, will suffice." *Adams v. State*, 772 So.2d 1010, 1013 (¶11) (Miss. 2000). Recently in *West v. State*, this Court found that twenty-five minutes was a reasonable amount of time for defense counsel to review undiscovered evidence which the State produced on the day of trial. 969 So.2d 147, 150 (¶13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In the case *sub judice*, defense counsel had much longer than twenty-five minutes to review the recently discovered evidence. The trial court recessed early for the day so that defense counsel could interview McGraw, giving defense counsel overnight to respond. As such, the trial court properly followed the mandate of UCCCR 9.04(I), and the court's decision should be affirmed.

Alternatively, if this honorable Court finds that the trial court erred in its application of UCCCR 9.04(I), the State submits that any such error would be harmless. "Failure to follow Rule 9.04(I) does not inexorably require reversal." *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968, 1000 (¶67) (Miss.

2007). See also, *Isom v. State*, 928 So.2d 840, 845-46 (¶15)(Miss. 2006); *Payton v. State*, 897 So.2d 921, 942 (¶67) (Miss. 2003). Canton, Williamson, and Williamson's own witnesses testified that Williamson did in fact punch Canton in the face at least once. Dr. Canton testified that as a result of the punch or punches, Canton received serious bodily harm and would have been permanently disfigured but for the surgeries he underwent. T. 97. McGraw's testimony added nothing new. Although he and Canton recalled that Williamson hit Canton more than once, whereas Williamson and his witnesses testified that Williamson hit Canton only once, nothing about McGraw's testimony altered Williamson's defense. As such, Williamson suffered no prejudice from the admission of McGraw's testimony.

II. WILLIAMSON WAS NOT PREJUDICED DURING PLEA NEGOTIATIONS.

Williamson's second argument implies that had he known of McGraw's testimony, he would have taken the plea offer. However, as previously stated, McGraw's testimony added nothing new. Williamson knew going into plea negotiations that if he went to trial the jury was going to be presented with conflicting evidence regarding whether Canton's serious bodily injury was caused by one blow or more than one blow.

Williamson cites to *Morris v. State*, 436 So.2d 1381, 1386 (Miss. 1983) to support his argument, but *Morris* is easily distinguishable from the case sub judice. In *Morris*, defense counsel put forth an "it wasn't me" defense at trial. *Id.* at 1385-86. The State then presented a statement which had not been produced during discovery in which the defendant admitted to the crime. *Morris* was reversed based on the discovery violation, and the court noted in dicta that Morris had also been prejudiced during plea negotiation due to the nondisclosure of the statement. The case *sub judice* is a far cry from *Morris*, because McGraw's testimony simply duplicated Canton's testimony and that of Williamson and his cronies except as to the number of blows.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Williamson's conviction and sentence.